STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

MAY 20 2014

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Charleston County  
Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**S.C. Supreme Court**

JOSE LUIS G. HERNANDEZ ,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002061  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to preserve for appellate review whether Petitioner was entitled to a directed verdict when the evidence conclusively proved that Petitioner was entrapped?
- II. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to preserve for appellate review whether the Trial Court erred in giving the jury a confusing and contradictory charge on entrapment when the Trial Court instructed the jury that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner was *not* predisposed to commit the crime?
- III. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to preserve for appellate review whether the Trial Court erred in failing to instruct the jury that Petitioner only had the burden to produce “*more than a scintilla of evidence*” that he was induced, tricked, or incited to commit a crime which he would not have committed before the burden shifted to the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner was predisposed to commit the crime?
- IV. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that appellate counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where appellate counsel did not raise on appeal the preserved issue of whether the Trial Court erred in refusing to charge the jury that “evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt?”

## STATEMENT

### **Indictments**

On January 9, 2007, Petitioner Jose Luis G. Hernandez was indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury for (1) one count of trafficking cocaine in excess of two hundred (200) grams but less than four hundred (400) grams; and (2) possession with intent to distribute (“PWID”) within proximity of a school. App. 17, ll. 4-9; 408-409.

### **Trial and Guilty Verdict**

Petitioner was tried before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. and a jury on March 3-4, 2008. App. 1; 130. Petitioner was represented by Andrew D. Grimes and Benjamin C. Lewis, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Julie G. Cardillo and Stephanie Bianco. App. 1.

At the close of the trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted for trafficking cocaine. App. 264, ll. 14-20. The jury was hung on the second charge of PWID within proximity of a school, and the State ultimately dismissed this charge. App. 263, l. 20 – 264, l. 2; 270, ll. 15-19. Judge Dennis sentenced Petitioner to a term of twenty-five (25) years. App. 278, ll. 1-4.

### **Direct Appeal**

A timely Notice of Intent to Appeal was submitted on Petitioner’s behalf to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. A brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) was filed by the Office of Appellate Defense on or around January 21, 2009. On February 13, 2009, Tricia A. Blanchette filed a Motion for Substitution of Counsel and Substitution of Brief of Appellant. On March 19, 2009, the Court of Appeals granted Petitioner’s Motion. App. 284.

Ms. Blanchette filed an Appellant's Brief on Petitioner's behalf and raised two issues: (1) whether the Trial Court erred by failing to grant a directed verdict of not guilty when the evidence conclusively proved that Petitioner was entrapped; and (2) whether the Trial Court erred by giving the jury an improper instruction on the defense of entrapment. App. 280-294.

On January 26, 2011, the Court of Appeals filed its unpublished opinion affirming Petitioner's conviction, holding that both issues raised were not preserved for review. App. 319-322.

**Application for Post-Conviction Relief, Evidentiary Hearing, and Order of Dismissal**

Petitioner filed his application for post-conviction relief ("PCR") on April 21, 2011. App. 323-330. The State filed its Return on August 24, 2011. App. 331-336.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr. on December 4, 2012. Mark A. Peper represented Petitioner, and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Ashleigh R. Wilson. App. 337. Both Petitioner and his trial attorney, Andrew Grimes, testified at the hearing. App. 339-390. Judge Young orally denied Petitioner's PCR application at the conclusion of the hearing, followed by a written Order of Dismissal filed on December 27, 2012. App. 394, l. 11 – 395, l. 8; 397-407.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **Relevant facts from trial**

In November 2005, Steven Lasaine (hereinafter “CI”), was arrested by the Mount Pleasant Police Department on a series of drug charges. App. 104, l. 13-23; 111, l. 1 – 112, l. 25. As a result, the CI was taken to jail. App. 112, ll. 23-25.<sup>1</sup> Thereafter, the CI began assisting the Mount Pleasant Police Department with undercover operations. Specifically, on August 7, 2006, the CI met with Detective Hembree of the Mount Pleasant Police Department and contacted Petitioner. App. 68, l. 25 – 71, l. 25; 73, ll. 16-21. As a result of the contact made by the CI, Petitioner met the CI and Detective Hembree in the Food Lion parking lot on Long Point Road in Mount Pleasant. Upon arrival, Petitioner joined the CI and Detective Hembree in their vehicle, which was under video surveillance. App. 70, l. 14 – 74, l. 7.

While on the stand, Detective Hembree testified to the contents of several phone conversations conducted by Petitioner while in the undercover vehicle. App. 79, ll. 3 – 24. Even though Detective Hembree only heard one end of the Spanish conversation and admittedly did not speak Spanish himself and only knew “small bits of Spanish,” he testified that Petitioner was directing the individuals delivering the drugs to the Food Lion location. App. 79, ll. 8-24. Thereafter, the individuals arrived and delivered the drugs at issue to Detective Hembree. App. 87, l. 17- 89, l. 13. The price for the drugs was to be \$6300.00. App. 99, ll. 19-22. The drugs delivered were later determined to be 252.28 grams of cocaine. App. 145, l, 21 – 146, l. 22.

---

<sup>1</sup> In February 2007, the CI pled guilty to trafficking cocaine between twenty-eight (28) to one hundred (100) grams and received a twelve (12) year sentence. His charge of trafficking cocaine in excess of one hundred (100) grams was dismissed. App. 112, l. 20 – 113, l. 25; 203, ll. 8-12.

Petitioner took the stand at trial in his defense. App. 155. Petitioner testified that he was thirty-four years old and had never been convicted of a crime. App. 158, ll. 17-22. He owned his own business called "Painting Mix Framing Renovation" and provided construction services such as painting, framing and remodeling. App. 162, ll. 4-8.

About a year prior to the incident, Petitioner met the CI. The CI was able to refer construction jobs to Petitioner for a small commission. App. 164, l. 23 – 166, l. 13. Petitioner testified that about five months after meeting the CI, the CI began telling Petitioner that he could make good money selling drugs. App. 3-19. Even though the CI propositioned him several times, Petitioner repeatedly refused to sell drugs for the CI. App. 162, l. 15 – 170, l. 3.

Petitioner testified that on August 7, 2006, the CI called him and promised him a \$20,000.00 remodeling job if Petitioner would help set up this drug deal. App. 185, l. 13 – 186, l. 12; 202, ll. 9-16. Petitioner testified the CI told him if he did not help with the drug deal, then the CI would no longer refer any construction jobs to Petitioner. Petitioner said he was broke and worried about money to pay his rent and bills. Petitioner was worried that he would no longer be able to find work if he did not go along with the CI. App. 186, ll. 1-22.

Petitioner admitted that he contacted an individual for the CI regarding the drug purchase. App. 187, l. 4 – 188, l. 6. Petitioner explained that the CI kept calling him and told him to meet him at the Food Lion parking lot so the CI could show him the site for the remodeling job. App. 188, ll. 7-25. Petitioner further explained that he did not know

several of the individuals that arrived at the scene with the requested drugs. App. 184, ll. 3-18.

After the conclusion of Petitioner's case, the Trial Court agreed to charge the jury on entrapment. App. 208, ll. 14-15. During the course of the jury's deliberations, the jury returned with the following question: "Does entrapment apply to the second indictment of proximity?" App. 258, ll. 15-18; 261, ll. 13-14. The Trial Court responded to the jury: "Entrapment applies to both offenses equally." App. 256, ll. 14-15. After the jury returned a guilty verdict on the trafficking indictment and informed the Trial Court that it was hung on the proximity charge, defense counsel renewed his motion for a directed verdict. App. 263, l. 20 – 264, l. 2; 264, ll. 14-20; 269, ll. 13-14. Thereafter, the Trial Court remarked that with respect to the remaining proximity charge "entrapment is a slam dunk for where the officer set up the deal", and the State decided to dismiss the proximity charge. App. 269, ll. 20 – 270, l. 19.

#### **Relevant facts from PCR Hearing**

Petitioner testified that he had a hard time speaking and understanding English. App. 342, ll. 14-19. He said the State originally offered him a plea deal of fifteen (15) years, but that he turned it down because he did not understand the offer and thought it was for fifty (50) years. App. 342, l. 23 – 343, l. 11. The State then offered him an eighteen (18) year plea deal but Petitioner rejected this offer because he would have had to serve the sentence day by day and admit that he was guilty. App. 351, l. 1 – 352, l. 4. He further testified that his trial attorney told him that he could accept the eighteen years or just "pray for the best" and take a chance at trial of either being convicted and receiving twenty-five years or being found not guilty and walking away. App. 360, l. 24 – 361, l. 5.

Petitioner said he filed an appeal, but that his trial attorney had not preserved the issues raised for appeal. App. 355, l. 25 – 356, l. 14.

Andrew Grimes, Petitioner’s trial attorney, testified that he thought he had properly objected to the issues raised on appeal, but that the “Court of Appeals said no, I didn’t, so I can’t argue with them.” App. 379, ll. 7-17.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Young orally denied Petitioner’s PCR application and remarked, “And as far as any trial mistakes went, well, I really don’t think there were any, because it doesn’t sound like Mr. Grimes – while he may have failed to preserve a particular ground, according to the Court of Appeals, there is no evidence that this would have changed the outcome of the trial in any way. I think that was a slight error, but there is still no evidence that would have made any difference in the outcome of the trial, so I find that Mr. Grimes’s testimony on that was certainly more compelling and believable than the Applicant’s and would therefore deny the application for post-conviction relief.” App. 394, l. 22 – 395, l. 8.

### **Order of Dismissal**

In Judge Young’s Order of Dismissal, Judge Young stated that Petitioner’s trial attorney “felt that any issues regarding the entrapment defense [were] properly preserved for appeal.” App. 404. Judge Young found “there is no evidence that the proper preservation of the issue for appeal would have changed the outcome of the trial.” Id.

Judge Young also found that with respect to Petitioner’s claims in his application that appellate counsel was ineffective, that appellate counsel was not ineffective in only briefing issues that were not preserved for appeal and not raising other preserved issues to the Court of Appeals. App. 405-406.

## ARGUMENT

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must satisfy the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “First, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, [t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (internal citations omitted). “The second prong of the Strickland test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The defendant is required to overcome the presumption that counsel was effective in order to receive relief.” Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (internal citations omitted).

**I. The PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to preserve for appellate review whether Petitioner was entitled to a directed verdict when the evidence conclusively proved that Petitioner was entrapped.**

Petitioner's trial attorney was ineffective in failing to raise the defense of entrapment to the Trial Court in support of his directed verdict motion. Had Petitioner's trial attorney properly preserved this issue for appeal, Petitioner would have been entitled to a directed verdict.

It is well established that entrapment is an affirmative defense, which places the burden on a defendant to show that he was induced, tricked or incited to commit a crime that he would not have otherwise committed. See State v. Johnson, 295 S.C. 215, 367 S.E.2d 700 (1988). “The defendant has the initial burden to produce more than a scintilla of evidence that the government induced him to commit the charged offense, before the

burden shifts to the government to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was predisposed to commit the crime.” United States v. Sligh, 142 F.3d 761, 762 (4th Cir. 1998). Therefore, an entrapment defense consists of two elements: (1) government inducement, and (2) lack of predisposition. State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 607 S.E.2d 93 (Ct. App. 2004). The United States Supreme Court has explained the underlying rationale as follows:

When the criminal design originates, not with the accused, but it is conceived in the mind of the government officers, and the accused is by persuasion, deceitful representation, or inducement lured into the commission of a criminal act, the government is estopped by sound policy from prosecution therefor.

Sorrells v. United States, 287 U.S. 435, 445 (1932).

In the instant case, the Trial Court determined that Petitioner met the burden of proof for a jury instruction to be given on the affirmative defense of entrapment. App. 208, ll. 14-15. Petitioner’s appellate counsel argued on appeal that Petitioner was not only entitled to a charge on the defense of entrapment, but was entitled to a directed verdict of not guilty where the evidence conclusively proved that Petitioner was entrapped. App. 287. The Court of Appeals, however, held that this issue was not preserved for appeal where Petitioner’s trial attorney did not raise the defense of entrapment in support of his directed verdict motion. The Court of Appeals therefore did not reach the merits of this issue. App. 320-321. Had Petitioner’s trial attorney properly preserved this directed verdict argument for review, Petitioner submits that he would be entitled to a directed verdict of not guilty where there is no dispute that Petitioner was entrapped.

Regarding the first element of government inducement, the following was shown at trial:

1. The CI was arrested for a series of drug charges (including trafficking), taken to jail, worked as a confidential informant, had a number of charges dismissed and entered a plea for twelve years. App. 104, ll. 13-23; 111, l. 1 – 113, l. 25; 203, ll. 8-12.
2. Pursuant to Detective Hembree, the CI made a call to Petitioner and directed him to the Food Lion parking lot. App. 73, ll. 12-21.
3. No calls were monitored between the CI and Petitioner prior to the incident date nor were any phone records obtained by law enforcement. App. 115, l. 25 – 116, l. 17.
4. Petitioner owned his own company and knew the CI as a result of legitimate remodeling contracts. App. 162, l. 4 – 166, l. 13.
5. Petitioner was promised a \$20,000.00 remodeling job if he made a phone call to obtain drugs for the CI. The CI also threatened to no longer refer jobs to Petitioner unless he participated in this drug deal. App. 185, l. 13 – 187, l. 15.
6. The CI had previously asked him to sell drugs, and Petitioner had previously refused those repeated requests. App. 166, l. 24 – 170, l. 3.
7. Petitioner had no record of being convicted for any drug-related crime. App. 158, ll. 21-22.

Although a confidential informant is not a law enforcement officer, where he acts at the behest of an officer, his actions may amount to governmental trickery or persuasion. Johnson at 216 n. 1, 367 S.E.2d at 701 n. 1. Where the CI was working in conjunction with law enforcement, his promise to Petitioner of a \$20,000 remodeling contract constitutes governmental inducement.

As to the second element of predisposition, Petitioner did not have any previous drug convictions nor had he previously been connected to any drug investigations. Defense counsel noted that a search warrant was executed at Petitioner's residence and

no drug evidence was found. App. 220, l. 21 – 221, l. 14. It is also clear from Petitioner’s testimony that he knew the CI as a result of remodeling work his construction company had been contracted to complete. During sentencing, the Trial Court made the following comments: “I don’t think you are a big time drug dealer. Mr. Hembree had some evidence otherwise, and I respect him, but I don’t think you are... I don’t think you are an evil man. I think you succumbed to some pressures that a lot of us succumb to.” App. 276, l. 6 – 277, l. 2.

In Johnson, the South Carolina Supreme Court held: “The issue of whether or not the defense of entrapment has been established is usually a question of fact for the jury unless there is undisputed evidence and only one reasonable conclusion can be reached.” 295 S.C. at 217, 367 S.E.2d at 701. Petitioner submits that the Trial Court was presented clear evidence regarding Petitioner’s lack of predisposition and government inducement from which only one conclusion could be reached.

This case is not unlike the United States Supreme Court’s opinion in Sherman v. United States, 356 U.S. 369 (1958) where the Court held the evidence established as a matter of law that the defendant was entrapped. In that case, a government informant met the defendant at a doctor’s office where both were apparently being treated to be cured of a narcotics addiction. The two men saw each other occasionally at the doctor’s office or the pharmacy to have their prescriptions filled and eventually had conversations about their experiences in overcoming their narcotics addictions. Finally, the informant asked the defendant if he knew of a good source of narcotics because he was not responding to treatment. The defendant at first tried to avoid the issue, but after repeated requests, predicated on the informant’s presumed suffering, the defendant acquiesced and

obtained and sold the informant drugs. After several sales, the informant informed law enforcement that he had another seller for them. Law enforcement then observed the defendant sell drugs to the informant on three separate occasions. Id. at 371.

Concluding that it was “patently clear” that the defendant was induced by the informant, the Court observed there was no evidence that the defendant was in the drug trade and that when the defendant’s apartment was searched after his arrest, no narcotics were found. Id. at 375. The Court also stated that a previous nine-year-old drug sale conviction and a five-year-old drug possession conviction were insufficient to prove that the defendant had a “readiness to sell narcotics at the time [the informant] approached him.” Id. In overturning the defendant’s conviction, the Court made the following remarks:

The case at bar illustrates an evil which the defense of entrapment is designed to overcome. The government informer entices someone attempting to avoid narcotics not only into carrying out an illegal sale but also into returning to the habit of use. Selecting the proper time, the informer then tells the government agent. The set-up is accepted by the agent without even a question as to the manner in which the informer encountered the seller. Thus the Government plays on the weaknesses of an innocent party and beguiles him into committing crimes which he otherwise would not have attempted. Law enforcement does not require methods such as this.

Id. at 376.

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