STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

OCT 10 2014

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Roger Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2013-002061

JOSE LUIS G. HERNANDEZ,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ASHLEIGH R. WILSON
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737
#100269

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The Petitioner also asserts the trial court concluded the Petitioner was entrapped but failed to direct a verdict of not guilty. The Respondent submits the trial judge did not reach the

conclusion that the Petitioner was entrapped. This was a factual question for the jury to determine and they did. They found the Petitioner was not entrapped and returned a guilty verdict. The trial judge did not, and cannot, make such findings of fact.

The Petitioner also argues the trial judge did not apply the entrapment defense equally to both charge in that the trial judge made a finding of entrapment as to the proximity charge. This is not correct. While the trial court certainly questioned how entrapment applied to a proximity charge, and even indicated that entrapment would be a 'slam dunk' if the officer set the place for the deal, the Court did not find the officer set the place for the deal, nor did it find that the Petitioner was entrapped. This discussion occurred only after the jury had returned a verdict of guilty on the trafficking charge and could not reach a verdict on the proximity charge. At that point, the State elected to dismiss the proximity charge. There was no issue with regard to entrapment as it applied to a proximity charge and the trial court did not make any findings in this regard. The Respondent submits counsel's alleged failure to preserve for appellate review the issue of whether the Petitioner was entitled to a directed verdict based on his entrapment defense is not properly preserved for appellate review and the Petitioner has failed to carry her burden of proving counsel's performance was ineffective in this regard.

II. The Petitioner's second claim that the lower court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to preserve for appellate review the issue of whether the trial court erred in giving the jury a confusing and contradictory jury instruction on entrapment is not properly preserved for appellate review and the Petitioner has failed to show that but for counsel's performance the outcome of the Petitioner's trial or direct appeal would have been different.

The Petitioner claims the lower court erred in finding counsel was not ineffective for failing to preserve for appellate review the issue of whether the trial court erred in giving the jury a confusing jury instruction on entrapment. The Respondent submits this issue also is not preserved for appellate review. The Respondent submits the Petitioner failed to raise this claim

in his post-conviction relief application or during his evidentiary hearing. (App. 326, 337-396). The Respondent also submits the record is void of any ruling from the lower court on whether counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve this particular issue for appellate review. (App. 401-405). With the his previous claim, the Petitioner failed to file a motion pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e) to ensure a specific ruling by the lower court on this issue. The Respondent submits and the record reflects the Petitioner is raising this issue for the first time on appeal. This issue was not raised or ruled on in the lower court. This Court should not reach the merits of this claim because the issue is not properly preserved for appellate review.

If this Court is inclined to address the merits of this claim, the Respondent submits the Petitioner has failed to carry his burden of proving that counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve for appellate review the issue of whether the trial court gave the jury a confusing and contradictory charge on entrapment when it instructed the jury that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Petitioner was not predisposed to commit the crime. The Respondent submits this claim is without merit. The record reflects that counsel objected during trial to the entrapment instruction given to the jury. Counsel argued to the Court that the entrapment instruction given by the trial court shifted the burden of proof to the Petitioner. The Court overruled counsel's objection. (App. 256:2-257:7).

On appeal, the Petitioner argued the trial court erred in misstating the State's burden of proof regarding the predisposition prong of the defense of entrapment during its entrapment jury instruction. (App. 280-294). The Court of Appeals found this issue raised by the Petitioner on appeal was not preserved for appellate review. The Court stated "Hernandez's argument that the trial court erred when it charged the jury that the State had "to prove beyond a reasonable doubt

that he was not predisposed” is a different argument on appeal and is not preserved for our review.” (App. 321). The Court’s finding regarding preservation of this issue for appeal made no mention of any failure by counsel to object and preserve the record for review on appeal (App. 321). The Respondent submits trial counsel should not be held ineffective for choosing to make an argument at trial that was different from the argument the Petitioner later chose to raise on appeal.

The Respondent submits further the entrapment jury instruction given during the Petitioner’s trial would not have warranted reversal on appeal since when read in its entirety the instruction given by the trial court was proper. While the trial judge did initially misstate what the State was required to prove to defeat the affirmative defense of entrapment, he immediately corrected the mis-statement and repeated the corrected burden several times.

Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 607 S.E.2d 93 (Ct. App. 2006). In South Carolina, a trial judge must “declare the law” to the jury. See S.C. Const. art. V § 17 (1895). The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 555 S.E.2d 391 (2001). Jury instructions must be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994).

The following is the entire charge on entrapment given by the trial judge in this case:

Now, ladies and gentlemen, in this case, the defendant has raised the defense of entrapment. And this is one area where the overall responsibility of the State to prove its case is somewhat modified but very, very limited modification. A very limited modification.

For one pleading entrapment has the burden of showing that that person was induced, tricked, or incited to commit a crime which the person would not have committed. If such evidence is produced and introduced, then you must then **look to the state to prove**

beyond a reasonable doubt that he was not predisposed. That he was otherwise not predisposed to commit the crime.

The crime – to believe – excuse me. Entrapment is shown if the crime was conceived and planned by an officer or someone acting as an agent of law enforcement. That the officer or agent induced, solicited, proposed, initiated, suggested, or persuaded the defendant to commit the crime without the trickery, persuasion or fraud of the officer or agent. And that the defendant would not have committed the crime without the trickery, persuasion, or fraud of the officer or agent.

The State is required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was predisposed to commit the crime without the inducement. Predisposed to commit the crime means that the defendant had the intent, purpose, readiness or willingness to commit the crime without the inducement or persuasion of the officer of agent.

The fact that the officer or agent merely presented opportunities or facilities for the commission of the crime is not entrapment. If you find the defendant had any predisposition without any government inducement and influence to commit the crime, the defense of entrapment would not apply.

In deciding whether the defendant had any predisposition to commit the crime you may consider such evidence as the existing course of criminal conduct by the defendant similar to the crime charged. Also an already formed plan by the defendant to commit the crime, and a willingness to commit the crime charged as shown by the defendant's ready response to the inducement.

If you find the defendant was entrapped into committing the crime, then you must return a verdict of not guilty.

Also in determining whether the defendant was predisposed to commit the crime before being approached by the government agent; you may consider the defendant's character and reputation; whether the government initially suggested criminal activity; whether the defendant engaged in activity for profit; the nature of the government's inducement; and any other facts related to predisposition. (App. 246:19-248:23) (emphasis added).

The Respondent submits that while the trial judge mis-spoke at the beginning of the charge, he did correct the mis-statement and repeated the correct charge several times. The bold text is the portion of the charge that the trial judge mis-stated. The Respondent submits the underlined passages are the portions of the charge that correctly state the burden of proof and clarify that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant was predisposed to commit the crime. The Respondent submits the jury charge, when read as a whole, clearly

instructed the jury that in order to find the Petitioner was entrapped, the State was required to prove that he was predisposed to commit the crime.

The Respondent also submits the trial judge also charged the jury to use their common sense and that common sense dictates that the State would not have to prove that the Petitioner was not predisposed to commit the crime. The entrapment instruction given by the trial court as a whole was a correct statement of law. Even if trial counsel had objected and preserved this issue for appellate review, it is unlikely the instructions as given would have warranted reversal on appeal. The Respondent submits counsel's alleged failure to preserve for appellate review the issue of whether the trial court erred in giving the jury a confusing jury instruction on entrapment is not preserved for appellate review and the Petitioner has failed to carry his burden of proving counsel was ineffective in this regard.

III. The Petitioner's third claim that the lower court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to preserve for appellate review the issue of whether the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that the Petitioner only had the burden to produce "more than a scintilla of evidence" showing he was induced to commit the crime is not properly preserved for appellate review and the Petitioner has failed to show that counsel's performance affected the outcome of the Petitioner's trial or direct appeal.

The Petitioner claims the lower court erred in finding counsel was not ineffective for failing to preserve for appellate review the issue of whether the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that the Petitioner only had the burden to produce "more than a scintilla of evidence" that he was induced to commit the crime before the burden shifted to the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Petitioner was predisposed to commit the crime. The Respondent submits this issue is also not preserved for appellate review.

Like the Petitioner's first two claims, the Petitioner failed to raise this claim in his post-conviction relief application or during his evidentiary hearing. (App. 326, 337-396). The Respondent also submits the record is void of any ruling from the lower court on whether

counsel. The Petitioner also failed to carry a motion pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e) to ensure a specific ruling by the lower court on this issue. The Respondent submits and the record reflects the Petitioner is raising this issue for the first time on appeal. This issue was not raised or ruled on in the lower court. This Court should not reach the merits of this claim because the issue is not properly preserved for appellate review.

If this Court is inclined to address the merits of this claim, the Respondent submits the Petitioner failed to carry his burden of proving that counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve for appellate review the issues of whether the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that the Petitioner only had the burden to produce “more than a scintilla of evidence” in support of his entrapment defense. The Respondent submits this claim is without merit.

The Respondent submits that counsel’s failure to preserve this issue for appellate review did not affect the outcome of his trial proceeding. It is also unlikely an objection and preservation of this issue for appeal by trial counsel would have resulted in reversal on appeal. The Respondent submits the trial judge’s failure to use the specific word “scintilla” did not change the import of the entrapment jury instruction. “The substance of the law is what must be charged to the jury, not any particular verbiage.” State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318-319, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003).

The charge, when read as a whole properly instructed jury as to the Petitioner’s burden of proof. A jury charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (1996). During the entrapment jury instruction, the trial court instructed the jury that the State had the burden of proving each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. (App. 236:22-238:5). The trial court instructed the jury that “this is one area where the overall responsibility of the State to prove its case is somewhat modified.”

(App.246:19-24). The trial court went on to explain that when a defendant relied on entrapment as a defense, he first must show that he was induced, tricked, or incited to commit a crime which he would not have committed. (App. 246:25-247:3). The court then reiterated the State's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. (App. 247:3-7). The Respondent submits the jury was sufficiently made aware of the burden of proof required in the Petitioner's case. The Court's failure to use specific language was not objectionable and would not warrant reversal on appeal.

IV. The Petitioner's fourth claim that the lower court erred in finding appellate counsel was not ineffective when she failed to raise on appeal the issue of whether the trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury that "evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt" is not preserved for appellate review and the Petitioner has failed to show that appellate counsel was ineffective in this regard.

The Petitioner claims the lower court erred in finding appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise on appeal the issue of whether the trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury that "evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt." The Respondent submits this issue is not preserved for appellate review. In the Petitioner's PCR application, he raised the claim of "ineffective assistance of appellate counsel." (App. 326). At the evidentiary hearing, neither the Petitioner nor his PCR counsel made any references to his claim regarding ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. In the Order of Dismissal, the PCR Court made a general finding that appellate counsel was not ineffective "for appealing an issue that was not preserved for review." (App. 406).

The Respondent submits the issue of whether appellate counsel was ineffective for failing on appeal the issue of whether the trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury that "evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt" was never presented to or passed upon by the lower court. The Petitioner should not be allowed to raise a new argument in support of his claim for ineffective assistance of appellate counsel on appeal

that was never argued in the lower court. Arguments not presented to nor ruled upon by the trial court are not preserved for appellate review. The Appellant may not argue a different position on appeal. Dunes West Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 401 S.C. 280, 737 S.E.2d 601 (2013). The Respondent submits and the record reflects the Petitioner is raising this issue for the first time on appeal. This issue was not raised or ruled on in the lower court. This Court should not reach the merits of this claim because the issue is not properly preserved for appellate review.

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